# Uniqueness of the solution to the 2D Vlasov-Navier-Stokes system

Daniel Han-Kwan<sup>\*</sup>, Évelyne Miot<sup>†</sup>, Ayman Moussa<sup>‡</sup>and Iván Moyano<sup>§</sup>
October 20, 2017

#### Abstract

We prove a uniqueness result for weak solutions to the Vlasov-Navier-Stokes system in two dimensions, both in the whole space and in the periodic case, under a mild decay condition on the initial distribution function. The main result is achieved by combining methods from optimal transportation (introduced in this context by G. Loeper) with the use of Hardy's maximal function, in order to obtain some fine Wasserstein-like estimates for the difference of two solutions of the Vlasov equation.

# Contents

1	Introduction					
2	Notations			2		
3	The	Vlaso	v-Navier-Stokes system and main result	3		
	3.1	Comm	ents on the existence of solutions	3		
	3.2	Main r	result: uniqueness of weak solutions	4		
		gy and outline				
		3.3.1	Strategy of the proof	5		
		3.3.2	Outline of the paper	5		
4	Pro	of of T	Cheorem 1	5		
	4.1	Some of	of the main tools	5		
		4.1.1	Log-Lipschitz regularity for the Navier-Stokes system	5		
		4.1.2	The Loeper's functional	6		
		4.1.3	The Hardy's maximal function	6		
	4.2	Some	a priori estimates	6		
		4.2.1	Propagation of moments	7		
		4.2.2	Energy equality	8		
		4.2.3	An estimate à la Chemin-Gallagher	9		
		4.2.4	Local log-lipschitz regularity for $u$	10		
4.3 The		The pr	proof in four steps			
		4.3.1	Step 1: $L^2$ energy estimate for the Navier-Stokes equation	11		
		4.3.2	Step 2: Wasserstein-like estimate for the Vlasov equation	12		
		4.3.3	Step 3: Use of the Hardy's Maximal function	14		
		4.3.4	Step 4: end of the proof	16		

<sup>\*</sup>CNRS and CMLS, École polytechnique, France

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup>CNRS and IF, Université Grenoble-Alpes, France

 $<sup>^{\</sup>ddagger}$ Sorbonne Universités, UPMC Univ. Paris 6 & CNRS, UMR 7598 LJLL

<sup>§</sup>DPMMS, University of Cambridge, United Kingdom

5	Comments and perspectives	17
A	The Vlasov-Navier-Stokes system in $\mathbb{R}^2$	17
В	Estimates for the maximal function on the torus	18

# 1 Introduction

Fluid-kinetic systems describe the behavior of a dispersed phase of particles within a fluid. These systems allow a lot of different modelling possibilities for both the fluid and the dispersed phase, typically described by a Vlasov equation, the combination of which leads to challenging mathematical issues. We refer to the introduction of [14] for a recent state of the art on the subject.

A paradigm of such models is the Vlasov-Navier-Stokes system: among other applications, it has been used to describe the transport of particles in the upperways for medical purposes (see for instance [6]) and at the same time it offers important mathematical issues to deal with: existence of solution [2, 7], long-time behavior [11, 14], asymptotic limit [4], controllability [18]...

Existence for fluid-kinetic systems is nowadays well-understood, and there is no exception for the Vlasov-Navier-Stokes system: global weak solutions are known to exist for periodic boundary conditions ([5]), bounded domains with various boundary condition ([21, 20]) or even moving domains ([7]) and if the initial data is small enough, the system is well-posed in a narrower set of solutions ([11, 18]). In contrast, the uniqueness issue has not been very much studied. Of course, there is no hope to obtain in 3D a result that might not even hold for the Navier-Stokes system alone, but it is reasonable to hope for uniqueness in 2D, because in that case Leray solutions are indeed unique. The problem is yet challenging because the Vlasov-Navier-Stokes system is strongly coupled: even though both equations taken alone (fluid or kinetic) are well-posed, some effort is needed to recover well-posedness for the whole system. Up to our knowledge, uniqueness of weak solutions has not been proved yet and we intend to fill this gap. Our method of proof relies strongly on the regularity properties of the Leray solution in 2D and the optimal transport approach introduced by Loeper for the proof of uniqueness of the Vlasov-Poisson system [17].

# 2 Notations

The norm of a vector space X will always be denoted  $\|\cdot\|_X$ , with an exception for the  $L^p$  spaces for which we will often use the notation  $\|\cdot\|_p$  if there is no ambiguity. We omit the exponent for the functional spaces constituted of vector fields: we denote for instance  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^2)$  instead of  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^2)^2$  the set of all vector fields  $\mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$  whose norm is square-integrable.

We denote by  $\mathbb{T}^2$  the 2D torus and we will work on  $\Omega=\mathbb{T}^2$  or  $\Omega=\mathbb{R}^2$ . We denote by  $\mathscr{D}_{\mathrm{div}}(\Omega)$  the set of smooth  $\mathbb{R}^2$  valued vector-fields having 0 divergence and compact support in  $\Omega$  and by  $\mathscr{D}(\Omega\times\mathbb{R}^2)$  the set of smooth functions with compact support in  $\Omega\times\mathbb{R}^2$  (and similarly for  $\mathscr{D}(\mathbb{R}_+\times\Omega\times\mathbb{R}^2)$ ). The closures of  $\mathscr{D}_{\mathrm{div}}(\Omega)$  for the  $L^2(\Omega)$  and  $H^1(\Omega)$  are respectively denoted  $L^2_{\mathrm{div}}(\Omega)$  and  $H^1_{\mathrm{div}}(\Omega)$ , and we write  $H^{-1}_{\mathrm{div}}(\Omega)$  for the dual of the latter. For a function  $h:\mathbb{R}_+\times\Omega\times\mathbb{R}^2\to\mathbb{R}_+$  we will use the following notation for  $k\in\mathbb{N}$ 

$$m_k h(t, x) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} h(t, x, v) |v|^k dv,$$
$$M_k h(t) := \int_{\Omega} m_k h(t, x) dx.$$

We will often use the notation  $A \lesssim B$  to say  $A \leq CB$  where C is some constant which does not depend on any variable defining either A or B.

# 3 The Vlasov-Navier-Stokes system and main result

The purpose of this paper is to study uniqueness of weak solutions of the Vlasov-Navier-Stokes, i.e., for pairs (u, f), where u = u(t, x) is a velocity field and f = f(t, x, v) is a distribution function, satisfying the system

$$\partial_t u + (u \cdot \nabla_x) u - \Delta_x u + \nabla_x p = j_f - \rho_f u,$$

$$\operatorname{div}_x u = 0,$$

$$\partial_t f + v \cdot \nabla_x f + \operatorname{div}_v [f(u - v)] = 0,$$

$$u(0, \cdot) = u_0(\cdot),$$

$$f(0, \cdot, \cdot) = f_0(\cdot, \cdot),$$

studied on  $\mathbb{R}_+ \times \Omega$  and  $\mathbb{R}_+ \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^2$ , for  $\Omega = \mathbb{T}^2$  or  $\mathbb{R}^2$ , where

$$\rho_f(t,x) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} f(t,x,v) \, \mathrm{d}v,$$
$$j_f(t,x) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} v f(t,x,v) \, \mathrm{d}v.$$

# 3.1 Comments on the existence of solutions

In the case  $\Omega = \mathbb{T}^2$ , we infer directly from [5]<sup>1</sup> the existence of global weak solutions for the former system, when the initial data  $(u_0, f_0)$  satisfies:

$$u_0 \in L^2_{\text{div}}(\Omega),$$
 (1)

$$0 < f_0 \in L^1 \cap L^\infty(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^2), \tag{2}$$

$$(x, v) \mapsto f_0(x, v)|v|^2 \in L^1(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^2).$$
 (3)

The case  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^2$  has not been written explicitly in the literature, but one can easily adapt the proof of the periodic framework, and recover global existence of weak solution for initial data verifying (1) - (3). For the sake of completeness, we give in Appendix A a brief justification of this statement. The typical solutions that one can build by this procedure have the following behavior: the velocity field u = u(t, x) satisfies the Navier-Stokes equation in the weak sense (Leray), whereas the distribution function f = f(t, x, v) is a weak (renormalized) solution of the corresponding transport equation. More precisely, we shall work within the following framework.

**Definition 1.** Consider  $(u_0, f_0)$  satisfying (1) - (3). A solution of the Vlasov-Navier-Stokes system with initial condition  $(u_0, f_0)$  is a pair (u, f) such that

$$\begin{split} u &\in \mathcal{L}^{\infty}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_{+}; \mathcal{L}^{2}(\Omega)) \cap \mathcal{L}^{2}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_{+}; \mathcal{H}^{1}_{div}(\Omega)) \cap \mathcal{W}^{1,2}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_{+}; \mathcal{H}^{-1}_{div}(\Omega)), \\ f &\in \mathcal{L}^{\infty}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_{+}; \mathcal{L}^{1} \cap \mathcal{L}^{\infty}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{2})), \\ j_{f} &\in \mathcal{L}^{1}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_{+} \times \Omega), \\ \rho_{f} u &\in \mathcal{L}^{1}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_{+} \times \Omega), \end{split}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Strictly speaking the analysis of [5] considers the 3D case  $\mathbb{T}^3$ , which extends trivially to  $\mathbb{T}^2$ .

and such that for any test functions  $(\psi, \phi) \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathscr{D}_{div}(\Omega)) \times \mathscr{D}(\mathbb{R}_+ \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^2)$ , the following identities hold for all  $t \geq 0$ :

$$\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} u \cdot [\partial_{t} \psi + (u \cdot \nabla)\psi + \Delta \psi] + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} (j_{f} - \rho_{f} u) \cdot \psi = \langle u(t), \psi(t) \rangle - \int_{\Omega} u_{0} \cdot \psi(0)$$
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}_{+}} \int_{\Omega} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} f[\partial_{t} \phi + v \cdot \nabla_{x} \phi + (u - v) \cdot \nabla_{v} \phi] = -\int_{\Omega} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} f_{0} \phi(0),$$

where the duality bracket in the r.h.s. of the first equation makes sense because one has in particular that  $u \in \mathscr{C}^0(\mathbb{R}_+; H^{-1}_{div}(\Omega))$ .

# 3.2 Main result: uniqueness of weak solutions

The uniqueness theorem that we are about to state and prove can be applied to the weak solutions described in the previous section, provided that the initial distribution function  $f_0$  satisfies, in addition to (1) – (3), a certain decay estimate. More precisely, we shall impose the following.

**Definition 2.** The pair  $(u_0, f_0)$  is an admissible initial datum if (1) – (3) hold, along with the following condition:

$$\forall R > 0, \qquad \Gamma_R(f_0) : (t, v) \mapsto (1 + |v|^2) \sup_{C_{t, v}^R} f_0 \in \mathcal{L}^{\infty}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathcal{L}^1(\mathbb{R}^2)),$$
 (4)

where  $C_{t,v}^R := \Omega \times B(e^t v, R)$ .

**Remark 1.** Condition (4) is reminiscent of the one introduced in [16] for the study of the Vlasov-Poisson system. Observe that the exponential factor appearing here comes from the dissipation term -v in the drag force (see (15) and (16)).

**Remark 2.** A sufficient condition for Assumption (4) to hold is the following pointwise decay condition:

$$\exists q > 4 \quad such that \quad f_0(x,v) \lesssim \frac{1}{1+|v|^q}, \quad \forall (x,v) \in \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^2.$$

Indeed, in that case

$$\sup_{\mathbf{C}^R_{-}} f_0 \lesssim \frac{1}{1 + |e^t|v| - R|^q},$$

and one checks directly that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \frac{1 + |v|^2}{1 + |e^t|v| - R|^q} \mathrm{d}v < +\infty.$$

Since the previous integral continuously depends on  $t \in [0,T]$ , condition (4) follows.

We are now in position to state our main result:

**Theorem 1.** Consider an admissible initial datum  $(u_0, f_0)$  in the sense of Definition 2. Then the corresponding Vlasov-Navier-Stokes system has a unique weak solution in the sense of Definition 1.

Since the cases  $\Omega = \mathbb{T}^2$  or  $\mathbb{R}^2$  are almost identical, we shall focus on the case  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^2$ . The only required modification whenever  $\Omega = \mathbb{T}^2$  is explained in Appendix B.

### 3.3 Strategy and outline

#### 3.3.1 Strategy of the proof

In order to prove Theorem 1, we shall consider two weak solutions of the Vlasov-Navier-Stokes system, which must eventually coincide. After exhibiting several *a priori* estimates, we follow a strategy based on four points.

- 1. In the first step, we exploit the usual energy estimate for the Navier-Stokes system, which allows to identify some key terms to be controlled otherwise.
- 2. In the second step, we introduce a functional to compute, in a weak sense, the distance between the two solutions of the transport equation.
- 3. In third step we make a key use of the Hardy's maximal function to show that the problematic terms can be handled with the functional introduced in the previous step.
- 4. Finally, in the fourth step, a Gronwall-like argument allows to conclude that the two solutions must coincide, as the distance between the solutions of the transport equation vanishes.

We give a more detailed description of this road map in Section 4.3, once all the ingredients and tools have been introduced.

#### 3.3.2 Outline of the paper

Section 4 is devoted to the proof of our main result. To do this, we introduce in Section 4.1 the main tools and ideas needed in the proof. In Section 4.2 we derive some energy estimates for the weak solutions of the Vlasov-Navier-Stokes system, especially concerning the propagation of kinetic moments and a useful energy-dissipation inequality for the fluid. This allows to develop in Section 4.3 the main steps of the proof of Theorem 1. In Section 5, we gather some comments and perspectives. In Appendix A we give a sketch of the proof of existence of weak solutions in the whole space  $\mathbb{R}^2$ . Finally, in Appendix B we make some comments on the adaptation of our main result to the 2D torus.

# 4 Proof of Theorem 1

In order to simplify the presentation, we shall assume from now on that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} f_0(x, v) \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}v = 1.$$
 (5)

This normalization does not really affect the structure of the proof but lighten several computations. We will however point out the only two spots in which one should pay attention when this normalization does not hold (see Remarks 6 and 7 for details).

#### 4.1 Some of the main tools

The goal of this section is to highlight three specific tools needed in our proof.

#### 4.1.1 Log-Lipschitz regularity for the Navier-Stokes system

The first one concerns the log-Lipschitz regularity of solutions to the 2D Navier-Stokes equation and its very useful consequences on the associated flow.

**Theorem 2** (Chemin-Lerner). Consider  $u_0 \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^2)$  such that  $\operatorname{div}_x u_0 = 0$  and  $F \in L^2_{\operatorname{loc}}(\mathbb{R}_+; L^2(\mathbb{R}^2))$ . Then the unique Leray solution u of the Navier-Stokes equation initialized with  $u_0$  and with source term F belongs to  $L^1_{\operatorname{loc}}(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathscr{C}^0(\mathbb{R}^2))$  and satisfies that for any  $\eta \in (1/2, 1]$  and for any  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^2$  with  $|x - y| \leq 1/e$ ,

$$|u(t,x) - u(t,y)| \le \gamma_n(t)|x - y|(\log|x - y|^{-1})^{\eta},$$

for some function  $\gamma_{\eta} \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ .

**Remark 3.** This is a slight generalization of a result of Chemin and Lerner established in [10]. In their article, there is no source term in the Navier-Stokes equation, but the analysis can be straightforwardly adapted to add a source with  $L^2$  regularity.

#### 4.1.2 The Loeper's functional

The second tool is not a turnkey result but rather a method. In his proof of uniqueness for the Vlasov-Poisson system, Loeper introduced in [17] a functional reminiscent of optimal transportation theory to estimate the distance between two hypothetical measure-valued solutions to the Vlasov equation. We use the very same functional in our proof (see (31) for details).

#### 4.1.3 The Hardy's maximal function

The third and last tool is the Hardy's maximal function. Among other numerous applications, the maximal function has been used by Crippa and De Lellis [12] to prove uniqueness of the flow associated to Sobolev vector fields.

In this work, we use the following definition<sup>2</sup>: for every  $g \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^2)$  the associated maximal function, denoted Mg, is defined by

$$Mg(x) := \sup_{r>0} \frac{1}{|\mathcal{B}_r(x)|} \int_{\mathcal{B}_r(x)} |g|(y) \, \mathrm{d}y, \quad \text{for a.e. } x \in \mathbb{R}^2.$$

We will rely on the following result, which is a (very) particular case of some of the remarkable properties of the maximal function (see e.g. [19] or [1, Lemma 3]).

**Proposition 1.** If  $g \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^2)$  then so is Mg. Furthermore,

$$\forall g \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^2), \qquad ||Mg||_2 \lesssim ||g||_2. \tag{6}$$

Moreover, if  $g \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^2)$  then, for a.e.  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^2$  one has (with a constant independent of g)

$$|g(x) - g(y)| \lesssim |x - y|(M|\nabla g|(x) + M|\nabla g|(y)). \tag{7}$$

# 4.2 Some a priori estimates

First of all we use the DiPerna-Lions theory (see [13]) for linear transport equations and some properties of the Navier-Stokes equation in 2D to prove that solutions to the Vlasov-Navier-Stokes system in the sense of Definition 1 are in fact more workable than they appear. Consider thus such a solution (u, f) in the sense of Definition 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For the torus case, we refer to Appendix B.

#### 4.2.1 Propagation of moments

The Sobolev regularity of u and the integrability of f impose that the latter is actually the renormalized solution of

$$\partial_t f + v \cdot \nabla_x f + (u - v) \cdot \nabla_v f - 2f = 0,$$
  
$$f(0, \cdot, \cdot) = f_0.$$
 (8)

In particular,  $f \in \mathscr{C}^0([0,T]; L^p(\mathbb{R}^2))$  for all  $p < \infty$  and the weak formulation of the Vlasov equation can thus be extended into the following: for any  $\phi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathscr{D}(\mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2))$ , for any  $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$ ,

$$\int_0^t \iint_{\mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2} f[\partial_t \phi + v \cdot \nabla_x \phi + (u - v) \cdot \nabla_v \phi] = \iint_{\mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2} f(t)\phi(t) - \iint_{\mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2} f_0\phi(0).$$

Observe that, compared to the weak formulation given in Definition 1, the equality above allows to take into account the initial distribution  $f_0$ .

**Lemma 1.** Let (u, f) be a weak solution of the Vlasov-Navier-Stokes system according to Definition 1. Then the identity

$$M_2 f(t) + 2 \int_0^t M_2 f(s) ds = M_2 f_0 + 2 \int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} u \cdot j_f(s, x) dx ds$$
 (9)

holds for any  $t \geq 0$ .

Proof. Since f is the renormalized solution of (8), f is also the strong limit (in the sense of  $\mathscr{C}^0([0,T]; L^p(\mathbb{R}^2))$  for  $p < \infty$ ) of any sequence  $(f_n)_n$  solving the Vlasov equation with a regularized version  $(u_n)_n$  of the vector field u, that approaches it in  $L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+; H^1(\mathbb{R}^2))$ , and compactly supported initial datum  $(f_{0,n})_n$  (approaching  $f_0$  adequately). For all n,  $f_n$  is known explicitly (via characteristics curves), for all t,  $f_n(t)$  is compactly supported and  $(f_n)_n$  is bounded in  $L^\infty_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+; L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2))$ . Then, after multiplication of the Vlasov equation by  $|v|^2$  and suitable integration by parts, one gets

$$M_2 f_n(t) + 2 \int_0^t M_2 f_n(s) ds \le M_2 f_0 + 2 \int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |u_n| m_1 f_n(s, x) dx ds.$$
 (10)

Let us recall the following standard interpolation estimate (see e.g. [5] for a proof):

$$||m_{\ell}h||_{\frac{k+2}{\ell+2}} \lesssim ||h||_{\infty}^{\frac{k-\ell}{k+2}} M_k h(t)^{\frac{\ell+2}{k+2}}, \quad \forall \ell, k \in \mathbb{N} \text{ with } \ell \leq k,$$

$$\tag{11}$$

for any  $h: \mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}_+$ . In particular, taking  $\ell = 1$  and k = 2 in (11) with the choice  $h = f_n$ , we infer the following inequality on any fixed interval [0, T]

$$||m_1 f_n(t)||_{4/3} \lesssim M_2 f_n(t)^{3/4},$$

as  $(f_n)_n$  is bounded in  $L^{\infty}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+; L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2))$ . Since  $(u_n)_n$  is bounded in  $L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+; H^1(\mathbb{R}^2))$ , it is bounded in  $L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+; L^p(\mathbb{R}^2))$  for all finite values of p by Sobolev embedding: the last estimate can be employed in (10) together with the Gronwall lemma to prove that  $(M_2f_n)_n$  is bounded in  $L^{\infty}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ . Thus, the strong convergence of  $(f_n)_n$  toward f and Fatou's lemma allow to prove that  $(t, x, v) \mapsto |v|^2 f \in L^{\infty}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+; L^1(\mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2))$ . This stronger integrability allows to extend further the weak formulation. In particular, using  $|v|^2$  as a test function by an approximation argument, we deduce (9).

We prove next that f satisfies even stronger moment estimates, thanks to the extra assumption (4).

**Proposition 2.** Consider  $(u_0, f_0)$  an admissible initial datum in the sense of Definition 2 and let (u, f) be a solution of the corresponding Vlasov-Navier-Stokes system in the sense of Definition 1. Assume furthermore that u satisfies

$$u \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+; L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2)). \tag{12}$$

Then the following estimate holds for  $t \in [0, T]$ 

$$||m_0 f(t)||_{\infty} + ||m_1 f(t)||_{\infty} + ||m_2 f(t)||_{\infty} \le e^{2T} \sup_{[0,T]} ||\Gamma_R(f_0)(t,\cdot)||_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^2)}, \tag{13}$$

where  $\Gamma_R(f_0)$  is the function defined in (4) and  $R = e^T \|u\|_{L^1(0,T;L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^2))}$ .

**Remark 4.** The additional control on the moments of f given by (13) is crucial in our proof of uniqueness. On the other hand, it relies on the a priori estimate (12), which seems to require extra regularity on velocity field u. However, this does not represent any limitation, as any weak solution of the Navier-Stokes system under a sufficiently regular force satisfies (12). We prove this in detail in Lemma 3.

*Proof.* Owing to the (strong) stability of renormalized solutions, we can without loss of generality assume that u is smooth: it suffices to approach it by an approximating sequence  $(u_n)_n$  such that  $||u_n||_{\mathrm{L}^1(0,T;\mathrm{L}^\infty(\mathbb{R}^2))} \leq ||u||_{\mathrm{L}^1(0,T;\mathrm{L}^\infty(\mathbb{R}^2))}$ . In particular, f is known explictely through the characteristics curves. More precisely, we have the formula:

$$f(t, x, v) = e^{2t} f_0(X(0; t, x, v), V(0; t, x, v)),$$
(14)

where the characteristics (X, V) solve (here the dot means derivative along the first variable)

$$\begin{cases} \dot{X}(s;t,x,v) = V(s;t,x,v), \\ \dot{V}(s;t,x,v) = u(s,X(s;t,x,v)) - V(s;t,x,v), \\ X(t;t,x,v) = x, \\ V(t;t,x,v) = v \end{cases}$$
(15)

$$\dot{V}(s; t, x, v) = u(s, X(s; t, x, v)) - V(s; t, x, v), \tag{16}$$

$$X(t;t,x,v) = x, (17)$$

$$V(t;t,x,v) = v. (18)$$

We have in particular for  $0 \le s \le$ 

$$|e^t v - e^s V(s; t, x, v)| \le \int_s^t e^{\tau} |u(\tau, X(\tau; t, x, v))| d\tau \le e^T ||u||_{L^1(0, T; L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2))},$$

so that  $(X(0;t,x,v),V(0;t,x,v)) \in \mathcal{C}^R_{t,v} := \mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathcal{B}(e^t v,R)$ , where we have set R:= $e^T \|u\|_{L^1(0,T;L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^2))}$ . Using (14), the conclusion follows immediately.

#### 4.2.2 Energy equality

In 2D, the incompressible Navier-Stokes system is well-posed if the source term is in  $L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+; H^{-1}(\mathbb{R}^2))$  (see for instance Theorem V.1.4 of [8]) and the corresponding Leray solution is known to satisfy the energy equality. In our coupling the source term of the fluid equation is  $j_f - \rho_f u$ . By duality and Sobolev embedding,  $H^{-1}(\mathbb{R}^2)$  contains all  $L^p(\mathbb{R}^2)$  (for finite values of p) so that using Lemma 1 and (4), one recovers that  $j_f - \rho_f u$ belongs to  $L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+; H^{-1}(\mathbb{R}^2))$ . Thus, our solution u is in fact the Leray solution, which therefore belongs to  $\mathscr{C}^0(\mathbb{R}_+; L^2(\mathbb{R}^2))$  and satisfies the following identity

$$\frac{1}{2}\|u(t)\|_{2}^{2} + \int_{0}^{t} \|\nabla u(s)\|_{2}^{2} ds = \frac{1}{2}\|u_{0}\|_{2}^{2} + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} u \cdot (j_{f} - \rho_{f}u)(s, x) dx ds.$$

Adding the previous equality to  $\frac{1}{2} \times (9)$  leads to the following important energy-dissipation

**Lemma 2.** Any weak solution (u, f) to the 2D Vlasov-Navier-Stokes system satisfies that, for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$ , one has

$$\frac{1}{2}\|u(t)\|_2^2 + \frac{1}{2}M_2f(t) + \int_0^t \|\nabla u(s)\|_2^2 \, \mathrm{d}s + \int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} f|v-u|^2 \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}s = \frac{1}{2}\|u_0\|_2^2 + \frac{1}{2}M_2f_0.$$

#### 4.2.3 An estimate à la Chemin-Gallagher

In order to invoke Proposition 2, we need to prove (12). This is the purpose of the next lemma, inspired in the result [9, Theorem 3] due to Chemin and Gallagher.

**Lemma 3.** Any global weak solution (u, f) to the 2D Vlasov-Navier-Stokes system satisfies

$$u \in L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+; L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^2)). \tag{19}$$

**Remark 5.** Observe that we prove a stronger condition that (12). Indeed, (19) gives better integrability in time, which will be needed afterwards in the proof of the uniqueness result.

*Proof.* Let T>0. Using (11) with k=2 and  $\ell=0,1$  we infer for a.e.  $t\geq 0$  and  $x\in\mathbb{R}^2$ ,

$$|\rho_f(t,x)| \le ||f||_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}(0,T;\mathbf{L}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2))}^{1/2} (M_2 f)^{1/2},$$
  
$$|j_f(t,x)| \le ||f||_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}(0,T;\mathbf{L}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2))}^{1/4} (M_2 f)^{3/4},$$

from which, combined with Lemma 2, we deduce

$$\rho_f \in L^{\infty}(0, T; L^2(\mathbb{R}^2)), \tag{20}$$

$$j_f \in L^{\infty}(0, T; L^{4/3}(\mathbb{R}^2)). \tag{21}$$

We have also by Lemma 2 that

$$\nabla u \in L^2(0,T;L^2(\mathbb{R}^2)),$$

and thus by Sobolev embedding, we obtain that for all  $p < +\infty$ ,

$$u \in L^2(0, T; L^p(\mathbb{R}^2)).$$

Thanks to (20), we have that for all q < 2,

$$\rho_f u \in L^2(0,T;L^q(\mathbb{R}^2)).$$

Furthermore, combining with the information

$$u \in L^{\infty}(0, T; L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{2})).$$

obtained from Lemma 2, we can also get by interpolation that for all  $p, r < +\infty$ 

$$u \in L^r(0,T;L^p(\mathbb{R}^2)).$$

We deduce that for all p, r < 2,

$$u \cdot \nabla u \in L^p(0, T; L^r(\mathbb{R}^2)).$$

Therefore, we can see the Navier-Stokes equation as a Stokes equation with a source F given by

$$F := j_f - \rho_f u - u \cdot \nabla u$$

belonging to  $L^{4/3}(0,T;L^{4/3}(\mathbb{R}^2))$ . We next write  $u=S(t)u_0+w$ , where S(t) is the semi-group associated to the heat equation and  $w\in L^{\infty}(0,T;L^2(\mathbb{R}^2))$  solves

$$\partial_t w - \Delta w + \nabla p = F$$
, div $w = 0$ ,  $w(0) = 0$ .

We apply maximal estimates for the Stokes problem on  $\mathbb{R}^2$  with zero initial value, which yield that

$$D^2w \in L^{4/3}(0,T;L^{4/3}(\mathbb{R}^2)).$$

We use the Gagliardo-Nirenberg inequality stating that for any  $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ 

$$\|\varphi\|_{\infty} \lesssim \|\varphi\|_2^{1/3} \|D^2\varphi\|_{4/3}^{2/3}$$

which gives

$$w \in L^2(0, T; L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2)).$$

On the other hand, for what concerns the contribution of the initial data, we argue as in [9, Theorem 3] and obtain

$$||S(t)u_0||_{L^2(0,T;L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^2))} \lesssim ||u_0||_{L^2}.$$

(We have used the heat semi-flow characterization of the Besov space  $B_{\infty,2}^{-1}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ , see e.g. [15, Theorem 5.3] and the continuous embedding of  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^2)$  into  $B_{\infty,2}^{-1}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ , see e.g. [3, Proposition 2.71].) This implies the claimed result.

Gathering Lemma 3 and Proposition 2, we infer:

**Corollary 1.** The conclusions of Proposition 2 hold for any weak solution (f, u) to the 2D Vlasov-Navier-Stokes system with admissible initial datum.

#### 4.2.4 Local log-lipschitz regularity for u

As already explained, we will need for u the regularity stated in Theorem 2. We introduce the following (non-decreasing and concave) modulus of continuity

$$\Psi : \tau \mapsto \tau |\log \tau| \quad \text{if } \tau \in [0, e^{-1}], \quad \Psi(\tau) = e^{-1} \quad \text{if } \tau \in [e^{-1}, +\infty).$$
 (22)

Relying on Lemma 3 and on Corollary 1, we can prove the following lemma.

**Lemma 4.** Any global weak solution (f, u) to the 2D Vlasov-Navier-Stokes system satisfies, for  $|x - y| \le 1/e$ 

$$|u(t,x) - u(t,y)| \le \gamma(t)\Psi(|x-y|)$$

for some function  $\gamma \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ .

*Proof.* In order to apply Theorem 2, it suffices to establish that the source term  $j_f - \rho_f u$  belongs to  $L^2(0, T; L^2(\mathbb{R}^2))$ .

By Corollary 1, we deduce that  $j_f$  and  $\rho_f$  belong to  $L^{\infty}(0,T;L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2))$ . Since u belongs to  $L^{\infty}(0,T;L^2(\mathbb{R}^2))$ , the quantity  $\rho_f u$  belongs to  $L^{\infty}(0,T;L^2(\mathbb{R}^2))$ . Furthermore, by (21),  $j_f$  belongs to  $L^{\infty}(0,T;L^{4/3}(\mathbb{R}^2))$  so that by interpolation, it belongs to  $L^{\infty}(0,T;L^2(\mathbb{R}^2))$ . Finally,  $j_f - \rho_f u$  belongs to  $L^{\infty}(0,T;L^2(\mathbb{R}^2))$ , and the conclusion follows.

# 4.3 The proof in four steps

We can now proceed with the actual proof of Theorem 1. We do so by proving uniqueness on any interval [0,T], in four steps. Step 1 identifies the key term which appears when one simply tries to follow the usual energy estimate for the Navier-Stokes system (that is, the computation that leads to uniqueness of Leray solutions in 2D). Since this term cannot simply be controlled by the fluid energy or it dissipation, another functional has to be introduced to measure the distance between the two kinetic parts of the solutions. This functional Q is introduced in Step 2 (it is the one used by Loeper in [17]). To avoid the "rob Peter to pay Paul" scenario, we check also in Step 2 that the evolution of Q does not produce any extra terms that we cannot handle up to this point. This behavior is ensured up to a positive time  $T_0$  which depends only on the  $L^2(0,T;L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^2))$  norms

of the two fluid solutions. In Step 3 we use the Hardy maximal function to justify the utility of Q: the key term identified in Step 1 can be controlled in terms of Q and the fluid's energy and dissipation, on the whole interval  $[0, T_0]$ . Eventually in Step 4 we use a Gronwall-like argument to prove that uniqueness holds on  $[0, T_0]$  and that it is propagated on the whole [0, T].

We consider thus T > 0 and two solutions  $(u_1, f_1)$  and  $(u_2, f_2)$  of the Vlasov-Navier-Stokes system, in the sense of Definition 1 with an admissible initial datum  $(u_0, f_0)$  in the sense of Definition 2. In the proof, the notation C will refer to a universal constant and the notation K to a constant depending only on T and on the norms  $||u_j||_{L^2(0,T;H^1(\mathbb{R}^2))}$  and  $||u_j||_{L^2(0,T;L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^2))}$  for j=1,2 (note that these norms are finite thanks to Lemma 2 and Lemma 3). The constants C and K may possibly change value from one line to another. Similarly, we will denote by  $\gamma$  an nonnegative element of  $L^1(\mathbb{R}_+)$  which satisfies a.e.

$$\max_{k=1,2} \left( \|u_k(t)\|_{\infty} + \|\nabla u_k(t)\|_2 + \gamma_k(t) \right) \le \gamma(t),$$

where  $\gamma_k$  is the  $L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+)$  element given by Lemma 4 for  $u_k$ . Again,  $\gamma$  may change of value from line to line.

Before going on with the proof we notice that thanks to Corollary 1, using

$$R = e^{T}(\|u_1\|_{L^1(0,T;L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2))} + \|u_2\|_{L^1(0,T;L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2))}),$$

we have the following crucial estimate for k = 1, 2 for  $t \in [0, T]$ :

$$||m_0 f_k(t)||_{\infty} + ||m_1 f_k(t)||_{\infty} + ||m_2 f_k(t)||_{\infty} \le K.$$
(23)

# 4.3.1 Step 1: $L^2$ energy estimate for the Navier-Stokes equation

Since  $(u_1, f_1)$  and  $(u_2, f_2)$  are two solutions,  $w := u_1 - u_2$  solves

$$\partial_t w + (u_1 \cdot \nabla)w - \Delta w + \nabla p = -(w \cdot \nabla)u_2 - \rho_1 w + (\rho_2 - \rho_1)u_2 + j_1 - j_2, \tag{24}$$

where we denote for  $k = 1, 2, (\rho_k, j_k) := (\rho_{f_k}, j_{f_k}).$ 

Owing to the regularity of the Leray solutions, we can take w as test function in (24) and recover, after the usual integration by parts for the Navier-Stokes system (note that w(0) = 0) for all  $t \in [0, T]$ 

$$\frac{1}{2} \|w(t)\|_{2}^{2} + \int_{0}^{t} \|\nabla w(s)\|_{2}^{2} ds$$

$$= -\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} w \cdot (w \cdot \nabla) u_{2} dx ds - \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \rho_{1} |w|^{2} dx ds + \int_{0}^{t} A(s) ds, \quad (25)$$

where we have set

$$A(s) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} (\rho_2 - \rho_1) u_2 \cdot w \, dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} (j_1 - j_2) \cdot w \, dx \tag{26}$$

We can easily handle the first two terms of the r.h.s. in (25). Indeed the first one is in fact present even without the coupling with the kinetic part of the system, and is handled in a classical way thanks to the Gagliardo-Nirenberg inequality stating that for any  $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ 

$$\|\varphi\|_{q} \lesssim \|\varphi\|_{2}^{2/q} \|\varphi\|_{H^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{2})}^{1-2/q},$$
 (27)

which gives for q = 4

$$\|\varphi\|_4 \lesssim \|\varphi\|_2^{1/2} \|\varphi\|_{H^1(\mathbb{R}^2)}^{1/2},$$
 (28)

so that

$$\begin{split} \|w \cdot (w \cdot \nabla)u_2\|_1 &\leq \|w\|_4^2 \|\nabla u_2\|_2 \\ &\lesssim \|w\|_2 \|w\|_{H^1(\mathbb{R}^2)} \|\nabla u_2\|_2 \\ &\leq C \|w\|_2^2 (\|\nabla u_2\|_2^2 + 1) + \frac{1}{4} \|w\|_{H^1(\mathbb{R}^2)}^2. \end{split}$$

We observe here that the worst term  $\|\nabla w\|_2^2$  is absorbed by the l.h.s. in (25), while the other opens the way for an eventual use of a Gronwall type estimate because both  $u_k$  belong to  $L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+; H^1(\mathbb{R}^2))$ . For what concerns the second term in the r.h.s. of (25), it is in fact a gain in our computation because  $\rho_1 \geq 0$ , so that the core of the proof is devoted to the understanding of A(s), since we actually obtained

$$\frac{1}{2}\|w(t)\|_{2}^{2} + \frac{3}{4} \int_{0}^{t} \|\nabla w(s)\|_{2}^{2} ds \le C \int_{0}^{t} \gamma(s)\|w(s)\|_{2}^{2} ds + \int_{0}^{t} A(s) ds, \tag{29}$$

for some  $\gamma \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ .

#### 4.3.2 Step 2: Wasserstein-like estimate for the Vlasov equation

To handle the term A(t), we follow the approach of Loeper [17] and introduce a functional Q inspired from optimal transport to measure the distance between  $f_1$  and  $f_2$ . By Lemma 4, we observe that both  $u_k$  have a sufficient Osgood regularity so as to define the characteristics curves  $\mathbf{Z}_k^t(x,v) := (\mathbf{X}_k^t(x,v),\mathbf{V}_k^t(x,v))$  associated to the vector field  $(t,x,v) \mapsto (v,u_k(t,x)-v)$  (as defined in (15) – (18)), where we have set  $\mathbf{X}_k^t(x,v) = \mathbf{X}_k(t;0,x,v)$  and  $\mathbf{V}_k^t(x,v) = \mathbf{V}_k(t;0,x,v)$  for simplicity. We therefore have the following explicit formula for k=1,2:

$$f_k(t, \mathbf{Z}_k^t(x, v)) = e^{2t} f_0(x, v).$$
 (30)

Following Loeper, one defines then

$$Q(t) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} f_0(x, v) |Z_1^t(x, v) - Z_2^t(x, v)|^2 dv dx.$$
 (31)

In order not to pollute the estimates with terms that we cannot handle we should verify that the evolution of Q is well-behaved. This will be true locally on an interval which is given by the following lemma (recall that  $u_1, u_2 \in L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+; L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2))$  by Lemma 3)

**Lemma 5.** There exists  $T_0 \in [0,T]$ , depending only on  $||u_k||_{L^2(0,T;L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^2))}$  for k=1,2, such that for any  $t \in [0,T_0]$ 

$$\sup_{(t,x,v)\in[0,T_0]\times\mathbb{R}^2\times\mathbb{R}^2} |\mathbf{Z}_1^t(x,v) - \mathbf{Z}_2^t(x,v)| < \frac{e^{-1}}{2} \text{ and } \sup_{[0,T_0]} Q < \frac{e^{-1}}{2}.$$
 (32)

**Remark 6.** Without the normalization assumption (5),  $T_0$  would also depend on  $||f_0||_1$ .

*Proof.* From the definition of the characteristics, we first infer

$$V_k^t(x, v) = ve^{-t} + \int_0^t e^{-(t-\tau)} u_k(\tau, X_k^{\tau}(x, v)) d\tau,$$

from which we have

$$|V_1^t(x,v) - V_2^t(x,v)| \le \int_0^t (\|u_1(\tau)\|_{\infty} + \|u_2(\tau)\|_{\infty}) d\tau$$
  
$$\le t^{1/2} (\|u_1\|_{L^2(0,T;L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2))} + \|u_2\|_{L^2(0,T;L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2))})$$

which leads after direct integration to

$$|X_1^t(x,v) - X_2^t(x,v)| \lesssim t^{3/2} (\|u_1\|_{L^2(0,T;L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^2))} + \|u_2\|_{L^2(0,T;L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^2))}).$$

Choosing  $T_0$  sufficiently small, we get the first estimate and also the second one independently of  $f_0$  (recall the normalized assumption (5) on  $f_0$ ).

The dynamics of Q is then controlled thanks to the following lemma

**Lemma 6.** Let  $T_0 > 0$  given by Lemma 5. There exists some K > 0 and  $\gamma \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+)$  such that for any  $t \in [0, T_0]$  there holds

$$Q'(t) \le 2Q(t) + \gamma(t)\Psi(Q(t)) + K||w(t)||_{2}^{2}$$

where  $\Psi$  is defined in (22).

*Proof.* For the sake of clarity, we omit the variables (x, v) when there is no ambiguity in the subsequent integrands. Using the definition of the characteristics curves we infer

$$\frac{1}{2}Q'(t) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} f_0(X_1^t - X_2^t) \cdot (V_1^t - V_2^t) dv dx 
+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} f_0(V_1^t - V_2^t) \cdot (u_1(X_1^t) - u_2(X_2^t)) dv dx 
- \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} f_0|V_1^t - V_2^t|^2 dv dx,$$

so that using Young's inequality and the non-negativity of  $f_0$  we have

$$Q'(t) \le 2Q(t) + 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} f_0 |V_1^t - V_2^t| |u_1(X_1^t) - u_1(X_2^t)| dv dx$$
$$+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} f_0 |u_1(X_2^t) - u_2(X_2^t)|^2 dv dx.$$
(33)

Consider  $\gamma_1 \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+)$  given by Lemma 4 for  $u_1$ . We infer from the definition of  $T_0$  in Lemma 5 the following estimate on  $[0, T_0]$ :

$$|u_1(X_1^t) - u_1(X_2^t)| < \gamma_1(t)\Psi(|X_1^t - X_2^t|),$$

so that we have for the first integral in the r.h.s. of (33) ( $\Psi$  is non-decreasing):

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} f_0 |V_1^t - V_2^t| |u_1(X_1^t) - u_1(X_2^t)| \, dv \, dx \le \gamma_1(t) \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} f_0 |Z_1^t - Z_2^t| \Psi(|Z_1^t - Z_2^t|) \, dv \, dx.$$

But one checks easily that  $\tau\Psi(\tau) \leq \Psi(\tau^2)$  for  $\tau \in [0, e^{-1}]$  and since  $\Psi$  is concave, we infer from Jensen's inequality (recall the normalization (5) of  $f_0$ )

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} f_0 |V_1^t - V_2^t| |u_1(X_1^t) - u_1(X_2^t)| \, dv \, dx \le \gamma_1(t) \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} f_0(x, v) \Psi(|Z_1^t - Z_2^t|^2) \, dv \, dx$$

$$\le \gamma_1(t) \Psi(Q(t)).$$

For the second integral in the r.h.s. we write back the variables (x, v) to perform the following change of variables  $(x', v') = (X_2^t(x, v), V_2^t(x, v))$  (recall formula (30) for  $f_2$ )

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} f_0(x, v) |u_1(t, \mathbf{X}_2^t(x, v)) - u_2(t, \mathbf{X}_2^t(x, v))|^2 dv dx$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} f_2(t, x', v') |u_1(t, x') - u_2(t, x')|^2 dv' dx'$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \rho_2(t, x') |u_1(t, x') - u_2(t, x')|^2 dx',$$

and we use eventually the crucial estimate (23) to control  $\rho_2$  uniformly:

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} f_0 |u_1(t, \mathbf{X}_2^t) - u_2(t, \mathbf{X}_2^t)|^2 dv dx \le \|\rho_2(t)\|_{\infty} \|w(t)\|_2^2 \le K \|w(t)\|_2^2,$$

Gathering in (33) the estimates that we obtained before, we get the result.

Since  $\Psi^{-1}$  is not integrable near 0, the Osgood uniqueness criterion together with Lemma 6 will ensure that the addition of Q in our energy functional does not deteriorate it. More precisely, recalling (29) we have obtained for  $t \in [0, T_0]$ 

$$||w(t)||_{2}^{2} + Q(t) + \frac{3}{4} \int_{0}^{t} ||\nabla w(s)||_{2}^{2} ds$$

$$\leq K \int_{0}^{t} \gamma(s) ||w(s)||_{2}^{2} ds + \int_{0}^{t} \gamma(s) (Q(s) + \Psi(Q(s))) ds + \int_{0}^{t} A(s) ds,$$

where  $\gamma \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ . Since  $\Psi$  is increasing, introducing  $H(t) := ||w(t)||_2^2 + Q(t)$  we can rewrite the previous estimate like this:

$$H(t) + \frac{3}{4} \int_0^t \|\nabla w(s)\|_2^2 \, \mathrm{d}s \le K \int_0^t \gamma(s) \Big(H(s) + \Psi(H(s))\Big) \, \mathrm{d}s + \int_0^t A(s) \, \mathrm{d}s. \quad (34)$$

#### 4.3.3 Step 3: Use of the Hardy's Maximal function

In order to use a Gronwall estimate in (34), we have to show that A(s) can be controlled in term of Q(s),  $||w(s)||_2^2$  and a small part of  $||\nabla w(s)||_2^2$ . In this paragraph all the estimates are established for  $t \in [0, T_0]$ , thus allowing the use of Lemma 5 and Lemma 6.

We first rewrite A(t) in terms of  $f_1 - f_2$  in the following way,

$$A(t) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} (f_1 - f_2)(t, x', v') w(t, x') \cdot (v - u_2(t, x')) \, dv' \, dx'.$$

We use once more the change of variables  $(x', v') = (Z_k^t)^{-1}(x, v)$  ((recall formula (30) for  $f_1$  and  $f_2$ ) and avoid specifying all the variables for legibility in the resulting integral:

$$A(t) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} f_0(x, v) \left[ w(X_1^t) \cdot (V_1^t - u_2(X_1^t)) - w(X_2^t) \cdot (V_2^t - u_2(X_2^t)) \right] dv dx$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} f_0(x, v) w(X_1^t) \cdot (V_1^t - V_2^t + u_2(X_2^t) - u_2(X_1^t)) dv dx$$

$$+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} f_0(x, v) \left[ w(X_1^t) - w(X_2^t) \right] \cdot (V_2^t - u_2(X_2^t)) dv dx$$

$$=: A_1(t) + A_2(t).$$

On the one hand, we have by applying Lemma 5 and Lemma 4 to  $u_2$  (and noting  $\gamma_2$  the corresponding  $L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+)$  function) and the estimate (23) for the last line

$$\begin{aligned} |A_1(t)| &\leq \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} f_0(x,v) |w(\mathbf{X}_1^t)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} f_0(x,v) |V_1^t - V_2^t|^2 \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} f_0(x,v) |w(\mathbf{X}_1^t)| |u_2(\mathbf{X}_2^t) - u_2(\mathbf{X}_1^t)| \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2} \|\rho_1(t)\|_{\infty} \|w(t)\|_2^2 + \frac{1}{2} Q(t) + \gamma_2(t) \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} f_0(x,v) |w(\mathbf{X}_1^t)| \Psi(|\mathbf{Z}_2^t - \mathbf{Z}_1^t|) \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x, \\ &\leq K \Big( \|w(t)\|_2^2 + Q(t) \Big) + \gamma_2(t) \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} f_0(x,v) |w(\mathbf{X}_1^t)| \Psi(|\mathbf{Z}_2^t - \mathbf{Z}_1^t|) \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x. \end{aligned}$$

Since  $\Psi$  is increasing, we have, setting

$$Y(t) := |w(X_1^t)| + |Z_2^t - Z_1^t|,$$

noticing that  $\tau \Psi(\tau) \leq \tau^2 + \Psi(\tau^2)$  for all  $\tau \geq 0$  and using Jensen's inequality (recall that  $\Psi$  is concave and  $f_0$  normalized by (5)), that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} f_{0}(x, v) |w(X_{1}^{t})| \Psi(|Z_{2}^{t} - Z_{1}^{t}|) \, dv \, dx 
\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} f_{0}(x, v) Y(t) \Psi(Y(t)) \, dv \, dx 
\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} f_{0}(x, v) \Psi((Y(t)^{2}) \, dv \, dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} f_{0}(x, v) Y(t)^{2} \, dv \, dx 
\leq \Psi\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} f_{0}(x, v) Y(t)^{2} \, dv \, dx\right) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} f_{0}(x, v) Y(t)^{2} \, dv \, dx.$$

On the other hand, we have, using (23) another time

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} f_0(x, v) Y(t)^2 dv dx \le 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} f_0(x, v) |w(X_1^t)|^2 dv dx + 2Q(t) 
= 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} f_1(t, x', v') |w(t, x')|^2 dv' dx' + 2Q(t) 
\le 2 ||\rho_1(t)||_{\infty} ||w(t)||_2^2 + 2Q(t) 
\le K(||w(t)||_2^2 + Q(t)).$$

Finally we obtained the following estimate for  $t \in [0, T_0]$ :

$$|A_1(t)| \le KH(t) + \varphi_2(t) [KH(t) + \Psi(KH(t))],$$
 (35)

where we recall that  $H(t) := ||w(t)||_{2}^{2} + Q(t)$ .

We can therefore focus on  $A_2$ , for which we are going to use properties of the maximal function of  $w \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^2)$ , that are given in Proposition 1. Recall the expression of  $A_2$ :

$$A_2(t) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} f_0(x, v) \left[ w(X_1^t) - w(X_2^t) \right] \cdot (V_2^t - u_2(X_2^t)) \, dv \, dx.$$

We then invoke the a.e. pointwise estimate (7) to infer the following control for  $A_2$ :

$$|A_2(t)| \le C \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} f_0(x, v) |X_1^t - X_2^t| |V_2^t - u_2(X_2^t)| \Big[ M |\nabla w|(X_1^t) + M |\nabla w|(X_2^t) \Big] dv dx.$$

Therefore for all  $\alpha > 0$  and  $t \in [0, T_0]$  (changing the value of C)

$$|A_{2}(t)| \leq \frac{C}{\alpha} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} f_{0}(x, v) |\mathbf{X}_{1}^{t} - \mathbf{X}_{2}^{t}|^{2} (1 + |u_{2}(\mathbf{X}_{2}^{t})|^{2}) \, dv \, dx + \alpha \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} f_{0}(x, v) (|\mathbf{V}_{2}^{t}|^{2} + 1) \left[ (M|\nabla w|(\mathbf{X}_{1}^{t}))^{2} + (M|\nabla w|(\mathbf{X}_{2}^{t}))^{2} \right] \, dv \, dx.$$
 (36)

The first double integral in the right-hand side is bounded by

$$\frac{C}{\alpha}Q(t)(1+\|u_2(t)\|_{\infty}^2) \le \frac{C}{\alpha}\gamma(t)Q(t),$$

where  $\gamma \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ , recalling that  $u_2 \in L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+; L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2))$ . For the second double integral, we notice first that (we use here (32))

$$|V_2^t|^2 \le 2(|V_2^t - V_1^t|^2 + |V_1^t|^2) \le 1 + 2|V_1^t|^2.$$

In particular, after the usual change of variables  $(x, v) = Z_k^t(x', v')$  we get

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} f_0(x, v) (|V_2^t|^2 + 1) \Big[ (M|\nabla w|(X_1^t))^2 + (M|\nabla w|(X_2^t))^2 \Big] dv dx$$

$$\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \Big[ 2m_2 f_1 + m_2 f_2 + 2\rho_1 + \rho_2 \Big] (M|\nabla w|)^2 dx'.$$

Using estimate (23), we obtain from (36) the following inequality for  $A_2$ 

$$|A_2(t)| \le \frac{C}{\alpha} \gamma(t) Q(t) + K\alpha \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} (M|\nabla w)|^2 dx',$$

and using (6) (that is: the  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^2)$  continuity of the maximal function) we get eventually for  $t \in [0, T_0]$ 

$$|A_2(t)| \leq \frac{K}{\alpha} \gamma(t) Q(t) + K\alpha \|\nabla w(t)\|_2^2$$

Summing the previous inequality to (35) and changing the definition of K > 0 and  $\gamma \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ , we have for any  $t \in [0, T_0]$  and any  $0 < \alpha < 1$ 

$$|A(t)| \le \frac{K}{\alpha} \gamma(t) H(t) + \gamma(t) \Psi(KH(t)) + K\alpha \|\nabla w(t)\|_2^2, \tag{37}$$

where we recall  $H(t) = ||w(t)||_{2}^{2} + Q(t)$ .

#### 4.3.4 Step 4: end of the proof

Without loss of generality we can assume in the previous computations that the constant K is greater that 1 so that  $\Psi(\cdot) \leq \Psi(K\cdot)$  (because  $\Psi$  is non-decreasing). Using (37) in (34), we have thus obtained the existence of K > 1 and  $\gamma \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+)$  such that, for any  $0 < \alpha < 1$  and for any  $t \in [0, T_0]$ 

$$H(t) + \frac{3}{4} \int_0^t \|\nabla w(s)\|_2^2 ds \le \frac{K}{\alpha} \int_0^t \gamma(s) \Big( H(s) + \Psi(KH(s)) \Big) ds + K\alpha \int_0^t \|\nabla w(s)\|_2^2 ds.$$

In particular, for  $\alpha$  small enough so that  $K\alpha \leq 3/K$ , since

$$\forall a > 0, \quad \int_0^a \frac{\mathrm{d}s}{\Psi(Ks)} = +\infty,$$

we can conclude by Osgood's uniqueness criterion that

$$||w(t)||_2^2 + Q(t) \equiv 0$$
 on  $[0, T_0)$ ,

that is: uniqueness holds on  $[0, T_0]$ . But  $T_0$  depends only on  $||u_k||_{L^2(0,T;L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^2))}$  for k = 1, 2, we can repeat repeating the argument a finite number of times, and recover the uniqueness on [0, T].

**Remark 7.** Following Remark 6, if (5) is not satisfied,  $T_0$  depends also on  $||f_0||_1$ . The proof is however identical because the renormalized solutions that we consider conserves the integral value of the initial data at later times (this can be proven in a similar way to what we did for the propagation of second moment in paragraph 4.2.1). Since here f is non-negative we in particular have  $||f(t)||_1 = ||f_0||_1$  and the argument can thus be iterated up to [0,T].

# 5 Comments and perspectives

In this work we have proved that any weak solution of the Vlasov-Navier-Stokes system satisfying the decay hypothesis (4) must be unique. In doing so, the introduction of the Hardy's maximal function in Step 3 of Section 4.3 is the key new tool allowing to close the proof, as a direct approach as in [17] seems impossible. Whether the mentioned assumption can be relaxed or not seems an open question.

The methods developed in this paper might be adapted to derive some suitable stability estimates for the Vlasov-Navier-Stokes system, possibly choosing a slightly different functional Q in the Step 2 of Section 4.3.

A very interesting question arises in the 3D case, in which the uniqueness issue for Navier-Stokes alone proves already to be much subtler. We hope that under suitable stronger regularity assumptions, some uniqueness results might be achieved.

# A The Vlasov-Navier-Stokes system in $\mathbb{R}^2$

Since the existence of global weak solutions for the Vlasov-Navier-Stokes system on  $\mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^2$  has not been written explicitly in the literature, we give here a (rather sketchy) overview of the proof following the one used in [7].

First we replace the Vlasov-Navier-Stokes system by the following approximated one (with smooth, compactly supported initial data)

$$\partial_t u + (u \star \varphi \cdot \nabla)u - \Delta u + \nabla p = \gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \chi(v - u)f, \tag{38}$$

$$\operatorname{div} u = 0, \tag{39}$$

$$\partial_t f + v \cdot \nabla_x f + \nabla_v \cdot [f\chi(u - v)] = 0, \tag{40}$$

where  $\varphi \in \mathscr{D}(\mathbb{R}^2)$  is a test function ( $\star$  is the convolution in the space variable only),  $\gamma \in \mathscr{D}(\mathbb{R}^2)$  is a nonnegative cut-off function (which depends only on x) and  $\chi \in \mathscr{D}(\mathbb{R}^2)^2$  is an odd vector-valued truncation function such that  $0 \leq z \cdot \chi(z)$  for any  $z \in \mathbb{R}^2$ . Existence for this approximated system can be easily obtained thanks to the following fixed-point procedure. We consider the space  $E := L^2(0, T; H^1_{\text{div}}(\mathbb{R}^2))$  and we use Schaefer's fixed-point Theorem: if a continuous map  $\Theta : E \times [0, 1] \to E$  sends bounded sets on compact sets, vanishes on  $E \times \{0\}$  and is such that the set of all fixed points of the familly  $(\Theta(\cdot, \sigma))_{\sigma}$  is bounded, then  $\Theta(\cdot, 1)$  has at least one fixed-point.

Starting from  $u \in E$ , one can first consider the unique weak solution  $f_u$  of (40) (with initial condition  $f^0$ ) as obtained by the DiPerna-Lions theory. Then, for any  $\sigma \in [0,1]$ , one defines  $\Theta(\sigma,u) = \gamma \widetilde{u}$  where  $\widetilde{u}$  is the solution of the following regularized Navier-Stokes equation (with initial condition  $\sigma u^0$ )

$$\partial_t \widetilde{u} + (\widetilde{u} \star \varphi) \cdot \nabla \widetilde{u} - \Delta \widetilde{u} + \nabla p = \sigma \gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \chi(v - u) f_u, \tag{41}$$

$$\operatorname{div}\widetilde{u} = 0. \tag{42}$$

Of course when  $\sigma=0$ , one has  $\Theta(\sigma,u)=0$ , by uniqueness of the solution to the regularized Navier-Stokes equation.

Compactness. Let us check that  $\Theta$  sends bounded sets on compact ones. Since  $\chi \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2)^2$  and  $f^0$  is compactly supported,  $f_u$  is also compactly supported (independently of u). In particular the  $L^2(0, T; L^2(\mathbb{R}^2))$  norm of the drag force

$$\sigma\gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \chi(v-u) f_u$$

is bounded for all u by a constant depending only on  $f^0$  (because  $\sigma \leq 1$ ). Standard results for the regularized Navier-Stokes equation thus lead to the desired compactness, thanks to the cut-off function  $\gamma$  at the last step to allow the use of compact Sobolev embeddings.

Continuity. This compactness property of  $\Theta$  and the uniqueness of the solution of the regularized Navier-Stokes equation, give the continuity of  $\Theta$ . Indeed, if  $(\sigma_n)_n \to \sigma$  and  $(u_n)_n \to u$ , DiPerna-Lions Theory ensures that  $(f_{u_n})_n$  converges to  $f_u$  in a sufficiently strong sense to pass to the limit in the drag force. By the aforementionned compactness property,  $(\widetilde{u}_n)_n$  has a cluster point in  $L^2(0,T;H^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^2))$  which can only be the unique solution of the regularized Navier-Stokes equation with the following right hand side

$$\sigma\gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \chi(v-u) f_u,$$

that is  $\widetilde{u}$ .

**A priori** estimate. If  $u = \Theta(\sigma, u)$ , that is  $u = \gamma \widetilde{u}$ , multiplying (41) by  $\widetilde{u}$  and (40) by  $\sigma |v|^2/2$  and integrating by parts leads to the energy estimate

$$\frac{\sigma}{2} M_2 f_u(t) + \frac{1}{2} \|\widetilde{u}(t)\|_2^2 + \int_0^t \|\nabla \widetilde{u}(s)\|_2^2 ds + \sigma \int_0^t \int \chi(v-u) \cdot (v-u) f_u 
= \frac{\sigma}{2} M_2 f^0 + \frac{\sigma}{2} \|u^0\|_2^2.$$

Since  $z \cdot \chi(z) \ge 0$ , the previous equality ensures that any fixed-point of  $\Theta(\sigma, \cdot)$  remains in a ball of E, the radius of which depending only on  $f^0$  and  $u^0$  (because  $\sigma \le 1$ ).

**Back to Vlasov-Navier-Stokes.** For the last step, one only needs to perform the following limits:  $(\varphi_n)_n \to \delta$ ,  $(\gamma_n)_n \to 1$  and  $(\chi_n)_n \to \mathrm{Id}$ . The corresponding solution  $(u_n)_n$  is weakly compact in  $L^2(0,T;H^1(\mathbb{R}^2)) \cap L^{\infty}(0,T;L^2(\mathbb{R}^2))$  and strongly compact in  $L^2(0,T;L^2_{\mathrm{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^2))$  thanks to Aubin-Lions Lemma. This strong convergence is transferred to  $(f_{u_n})_n$  thanks to the DiPerna-Lions theory, allowing to pass to the limit each nonlinearity when integrated against a compactly supported test function.

# B Estimates for the maximal function on the torus

We explain here how to obtain an analogue of Proposition 1 for functions defined on the torus  $\mathbb{T}^2$  (the general case of  $\mathbb{T}^d$  for  $d \in \mathbb{N}^*$  is actually identical). Although this must certainly be very classical, we gather these remarks in this appendix for the record, since we have not been able to find them in the literature.

For  $g \in L^1(\mathbb{T}^2)$  the corresponding maximal function is defined as

$$Mg(x) := \sup_{0 < r \le \sqrt{2}/2} \frac{1}{|\mathbf{B}_r(x)|} \int_{\mathbf{B}_r(x)} |g|(y) \, \mathrm{d}y,$$

where  $B_r$  stands for balls for the canonical geodesic distance on the torus.

**Proposition 3.** If  $g \in L^2(\mathbb{T}^2)$  then so is Mg and furthermore

$$||Mg||_2 \lesssim ||g||_2. \tag{43}$$

If furthermore  $g \in H^1(\mathbb{T}^2)$  then, for a.e.  $x, y \in \mathbb{T}^2$  there holds

$$|g(x) - g(y)| \lesssim |x - y|(M|\nabla g|(x) + M|\nabla g|(y)), \tag{44}$$

where |x-y| has to be understood as the geodesic distance between x and y.

*Proof.* The proof of (44) is the same as in the whole space case, and follows directly, mutatis mutandis, from [1, Lemmas 1-3].

Let's prove (43). Fix  $g \in L^2(\mathbb{T}^2)$ . We identify  $\mathbb{T}^2$  with  $[0,1)^2$  with periodic boundary conditions, and endowed with the normalized Lebesgue measure. Consider  $\tilde{g} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^2)$  constructed as 1+8+16 copies of g: one in the canonical cell  $[0,1)^2$ , 8+16 others in the neighbouring surrounding cells, and equal to 0 elsewhere. By (6),

$$||M\tilde{g}||_2 \lesssim ||\tilde{g}||_2 \lesssim ||g||_2.$$

We remark that

$$||M\tilde{g}||_{L^2([0,1)^2)} \le ||M\tilde{g}||_2$$

and by definition of the maximal function on the torus, we have

$$||Mg||_2 \lesssim ||M\tilde{g}||_{L^2([0,1)^2)},$$

so that

$$||Mg||_2 \lesssim ||g||_2.$$

# References

- [1] E. Acerbi and N. Fusco. An approximation lemma for W<sup>1,p</sup> functions. In *Material instabilities in continuum mechanics (Edinburgh, 1985–1986)*, Oxford Sci. Publ., pages 1–5. Oxford Univ. Press, New York, 1988.
- [2] O. Anoshchenko and A. Boutet de Monvel-Berthier. The existence of the global generalized solution of the system of equations describing suspension motion. *Math. Methods Appl. Sci.*, 20(6):495–519, 1997.
- [3] H. Bahouri, J.-Y. Chemin, and R. Danchin. Fourier analysis and nonlinear partial differential equations, volume 343 of Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences]. Springer, Heidelberg, 2011.
- [4] S. Benjelloun, L. Desvillettes, and A. Moussa. Existence theory for the kinetic-fluid coupling when small droplets are treated as part of the fluid. *Journal of Hyperbolic Differential Equations*, 11(01):109–133, 2014.
- [5] L. Boudin, L. Desvillettes, C. Grandmont, and A. Moussa. Global existence of solutions for the coupled Vlasov and Navier-Stokes equations. *Differential Integral Equations*, 22(11-12):1247–1271, 2009.
- [6] L. Boudin, C. Grandmont, A. Lorz, and A. Moussa. Modelling and Numerics for Respiratory Aerosols. Commun. Comput. Phys., 18(3):723–756, 2015.
- [7] L. Boudin, C. Grandmont, and A. Moussa. Global existence of solutions to the incompressible Navier–Stokes–Vlasov equations in a time-dependent domain. *J. Differential Equations*, 262(3):1317–1340, 2017.
- [8] F. Boyer and P. Fabrie. Mathematical tools for the study of the incompressible Navier-Stokes equations and related models, volume 183 of Applied Mathematical Sciences. Springer, New York, 2013.
- [9] J.-Y. Chemin and I. Gallagher. On the global wellposedness of the 3-D Navier-Stokes equations with large initial data. *Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup.* (4), 39(4):679–698, 2006.

- [10] J.-Y. Chemin and N. Lerner. Flot de champs de vecteurs non lipschitziens et équations de Navier-Stokes. J. Differential Equations, 121(2):314–328, 1995.
- [11] Y.-P. Choi and B. Kwon. Global well-posedness and large-time behavior for the inhomogeneous vlasov—navier—stokes equations. *Nonlinearity*, 28(9):3309, 2015.
- [12] G. Crippa and C. De Lellis. Estimates and regularity results for the DiPerna-Lions flow. J. Reine Angew. Math., 616:15–46, 2008.
- [13] R. J. DiPerna and P.-L. Lions. Ordinary differential equations, transport theory and Sobolev spaces. *Invent. Math.*, 98(3):511–547, 1989.
- [14] O. Glass, D. Han-Kwan, and A. Moussa. The Vlasov-Navier-Stokes system in a 2D pipe: existence and stability of regular equilibria. arXiv preprint arXiv:1612.06808, 2016.
- [15] P. G. Lemarié-Rieusset. Recent developments in the Navier-Stokes problem, volume 431 of Chapman & Hall/CRC Research Notes in Mathematics. Chapman & Hall/CRC, Boca Raton, FL, 2002.
- [16] P.-L. Lions and B. Perthame. Propagation of moments and regularity for the 3dimensional Vlasov-Poisson system. *Invent. Math.*, 105(2):415–430, 1991.
- [17] G. Loeper. Uniqueness of the solution to the Vlasov-Poisson system with bounded density. J. Math. Pures Appl. (9), 86(1):68–79, 2006.
- [18] I. Moyano. Local null-controllability of the 2-D Vlasov-Navier-Stokes system. arXiv preprint arXiv:1607.05578, 2016.
- [19] E. M. Stein. Singular integrals and differentiability properties of functions. Princeton Mathematical Series, No. 30. Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J., 1970.
- [20] D. Wang and C. Yu. Global weak solution to the inhomogeneous navier–stokes–vlasov equations. *Journal of Differential Equations*, 259(8):3976–4008, 2015.
- [21] C. Yu. Global weak solutions to the incompressible Navier-Stokes-Vlasov equations. J. Math. Pures Appl. (9), 100(2):275–293, 2013.